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[English]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin (Senator, British
Columbia, C)): I call the meeting to order.

Good evening, everyone. Welcome to this meeting of the Special
Joint Committee on Medical Assistance in Dying.

I'm Yonah Martin, and I am the Senate's joint chair of this com-
mittee. I'm joined by the Honourable Marc Garneau, the House of
Commons' joint chair—

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Thériault (Montcalm, BQ): Excuse me, Mr. Chair, but
I can hardly hear the interpretation. There was none at all at the
start.

I'd also like the sound in the room to be adjusted.

Lastly, I'd like to know if the sound tests were successfully com-
pleted for all the witnesses.

[English]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): We're not getting the
English translation at the moment. We have tested the sound quality
for each of our witnesses, and I'm told that we're ready to begin.
However, I didn't hear the English translation of Mr. Thériault, so
I'm assuming that everything is okay. We'll continue. Let's see how
this goes.

We're continuing our examination of the statutory review of the
provisions of the Criminal Code relating to medical assistance in
dying.

I'd like to remind members and witnesses to keep their micro-
phones muted, unless recognized by one of the joint chairs. I'll also
remind you that all comments should be addressed through the joint
chairs. When speaking, please speak slowly and clearly. Interpreta-
tion in this video conference will work like an in-person committee
meeting. You have the choice at the bottom of your screen of floor,
English or French.

This evening, we'd like to welcome our witnesses. Thank you
very much for joining us. Your testimony will be very important to
our study.

We will have our witnesses in the order of Dr. Chantal Perrot by
video conference, followed by Professor Peter Reiner, professor of
neuroethics in the department of psychiatry at the University of
British Columbia, and Dr. Jennifer Gibson, associate professor and

director of the joint centre for bioethics at the University of Toron-
to.

Again, thank you to our witnesses.

We will begin with opening remarks. Each of you will have five
minutes. | hope to give you a four-minute warning. When there's
one minute remaining, I'll say, “one minute”. If you can keep your
remarks to five minutes, it will be very helpful for us to keep our
time.

Let's begin with Dr. Chantal Perrot.

Dr. Chantal Perrot (Doctor, As an Individual): Thank you,
joint chairs and committee members, for the opportunity to speak
with you today.

I live in midtown Toronto, on what was the shore of the old Lake
Iroquois. This is the traditional territory of the Mississaugas of the
Credit, the Haudenosaunee, the Huron-Wendat, the Anishinabe and
the Chippewa, and it is still home to many diverse indigenous peo-
ples.

I'm a community-based MAID assessor and provider—since July
2016—and chair of the board of MAiDHouse, a director of Dying
with Dignity Canada, co-chair of the Dying with Dignity Canada
clinicians advisory council, and a member of the CAMAP complex
cases working group, developing the new national MAID curricu-
lum. However, I am speaking today as an individual not represent-
ing any of these organizations.

I appreciate the work of the Canadian government in considering
so thoroughly and carefully the issues related to and raised by
MAID. I have learned from listening to the many hours of testimo-
ny presented to the various iterations of MAID-related committees
over the years. Hearing all these different points of view and being
challenged by others' opinions and beliefs have contributed to im-
proving my MAID practice. I have something to say about all of
the aspects of this committee's deliberations but will limit my com-
ments today to advance requests.

While I would much prefer to provide MAID to a person who is
conscious and capable of providing consent at the time they receive
MAID, there are conditions and events that occur which lead to the
loss of capacity or even loss of consciousness. A number one fear
expressed by most people I know and virtually all the patients I as-
sess for MAID is that they will lose the capacity to request or con-
sent to MAID and thus have to die a natural death in circumstances
they find abhorrent and intolerable. The addition of “Audrey's
amendment” in Bill C-7 went some way to alleviate the fears of
some, but it did not go far enough for most people.
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Most of my patients are not interested in staying alive until the
very end of a natural death. They actively choose MAID. However,
they also want to live as well as possible for as long as possible.
There is much uncertainty when it comes to dying, and thus much
anxiety. Many people fear losing their physical capacities and thus
their autonomy, or developing dementia and losing their cognitive
capacities or losing the ability to direct their own care.

I am frequently contacted by people who want to be assessed for
MAID because they think they could then have it at a later time of
their choosing or in the event that they become incapable in the
meantime. Some, like the two patients I assessed yesterday, are
shattered on learning that this is not possible. They don't want to
die now even if they are eligible. They certainly don't want to set a
date for MAID, but they know what is likely coming their way
within a few months or years. They know what they want to try to
avoid, and being able to write an advance request for MAID would
alleviate a tremendous amount of their current suffering and anxiety
about end of life.

To date, I have cared for people like this by starting an assess-
ment, gathering the background clinical information I need to know
and then keeping in touch with them on a regular basis. The assess-
ment is completed if and when they want MAID and are prepared
to set a date—sometimes months in the future and sometimes years.
This gives them comfort and me ongoing work, but it does not re-
place the benefit an advance directive or advance request would
confer.

My mother died in 2009. She had fallen and hit her head and, in
part because she was taking anti-coagulants for one of her medical
conditions, she had a brain bleed. She had surgery, which was suc-
cessful, but she did not wake up, and the scans and examinations
did not suggest a positive outcome was likely. Because I had talked
with my parents over many years about their end-of-life wishes,
and because they had answered my many questions and completed
and regularly updated forms I gave them to create their statements
of end-of-life wishes, I knew what to do. It was difficult, but I was
reassured by the certainty that I knew what my mother had wanted
in the event something like this happened. She died never regaining
consciousness, but with her family around her for the last days of
her life.

I've just come back from visiting my 96-year-old French-born fa-
ther, who lives in Texas. He would much prefer to live in Canada—
what he considers the most civilized country on the planet—but he
and my mother waited too long to start the immigration process, so
he had to content himself with lengthy visits while he was still able
to travel. He is now frail and weak of body, but sound of mind. He
still carries a torch for my mother, whose pictures surround him in
his apartment. While he looks like he should be suffering, he really
isn't. He would be content if he went to sleep and did not wake up,
dying peacefully, but he has no interest in or desire to hasten death
in his current condition. I have provided MAID for many patients
who were not as physically debilitated as he is. Were he living in
Canada, suffering intolerably and asking for MAID, he would be
eligible. He would also want an advance request.

All this is to say that advance requests and advance directives are
important and actionable. Speaking with a designated attorney or
future substitute decision-maker about one's wishes in the event of

incapacity is important. Clearly outlining the care one would want
to receive and the care one would not want to receive is crucial.
This is the information that will guide those tasked with one's care.
The more detailed this information is, the better, particularly when
it comes to advance requests for MAID.

® (1840)

Ideally there would be a national database to store advance re-
quests. The onus would be on health care providers to inquire about
the existence of an advance request and then to access it. This
would allow patients, no matter where they fall ill in Canada, to
have their wishes available to those who need to know in order to
provide care.

It's a big responsibility to take on the role of attorney for person-
al care or SDM. It requires a lot of time, thought and education. I
think most people have no idea how much is involved or how much
will be asked of them. It will be even more complicated and com-
plex when it comes to advance directives or requests that include
MAID, but I believe it can be done and done well with careful plan-
ning and guidance.

I've seen well-drafted advance directives at work—

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you, Dr. Perrot.
Will you kindly wrap up. It is a bit over time.

Dr. Chantal Perrot: Yes.

Over time and with experience, templates for MAID advance di-
rectives can be drafted, refined and improved. I would be pleased to
provide you with my thoughts on what should be included in an ad-
vance request for MAID. I have provided some in the written piece
I submitted.

Thank you.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you very much,
Dr. Perrot.

Next, we'll have Professor Reiner for five minutes.

Professor, go ahead.

Professor Peter Reiner (Professor of Neuroethics, Depart-
ment of Psychiatry, University of British Columbia, As an Indi-
vidual): Thank you very much for inviting me to speak before this
committee.

I am a professor of neuroethics at the University of British
Columbia. Today I'm going to outline for you a problem and then
share some solutions.

If advance requests for MAID become legal, one might think that
all that is required is to properly fill out a form and that, when the
time comes, a MAID provider will take care of the rest. Unfortu-
nately, that might not be what happens. Evidence from the Nether-
lands, where advance requests have been legal since 2002, reveals
that physicians do not always comply with dementia patients' wish-
es. Indeed, very few advance requests have resulted in dementia pa-
tients' receiving MAID.
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In order to anticipate what might happen in Canada if advance
requests for MAID in dementia were legal, my colleagues Adrian
Byram, Ellen Wiebe, Sabrina Tremblay-Huet and I asked 103
MAID providers working in all provinces whether they would pro-
vide MAID under the aegis of an advance request that listed the
sorts of specific circumstances that have been discussed often in
these proceedings. The vast majority agreed that they would pro-
vide MAID if the patient was able to provide full consent. Howev-
er, as we changed the description of the situation to include circum-
stances that would likely apply as dementia takes hold—nodding
yes instead of providing consent, unresponsive patients but agree-
ment by the family, or reliance upon the written advance request
without anyone else to agree that “it's time”—as we moved along
that spectrum, the percentage of providers who would offer MAID
to dementia patients decreased to the point where substantially less
than half would agree.

These data suggest that advance requests for MAID in the case
of dementia do not represent a slippery slope. Rather, their imple-
mentation represents an uphill battle. This is a pragmatic problem
that threatens to undo all the hard work that many of you have put
into establishing a route for advance requests in the case of demen-
tia.

Then this question arises: How can we design those requests so
that MAID providers will follow the wishes of individuals?

Fortunately, we asked these very same MAID providers to pro-
pose concrete policy suggestions that might alleviate the situation.
Their recommendations were exceedingly thoughtful, and I want to
take this opportunity to publicly thank them for their insights,
which are distilled in our 2021 paper, which has been made avail-
able to the committee.

I'd like to end my testimony by highlighting five points that stand
out as what I would consider minimal solutions to our common
dilemma.

First, the advance request should include a list of specific cir-
cumstances for the provision of MAID, with extra emphasis on the
term “specific”.

Periodic reaffirmation of the advance request would be the sec-
ond suggestion, because continuity of one's wishes seems to hold
particular sway with MAID providers.

Third is enumeration of why each specific circumstance consti-
tutes intolerable suffering for the requester. MAID providers were
generally receptive to the idea that individuals could determine for
themselves what constituted suffering, but regularly commented
that explicit discussion of the issue in the advance request would
reinforce the idea that they were doing the right thing at the right
time.

Fourth is discussion of the advance request with family and rele-
vant designated decision-makers. Surprises at the time of provision
puts MAID providers in an extremely awkward situation.

Fifth is a question asking requesters to be explicit about what
they would want to happen if, at the time of provision, things don't
go as expected—for example, if family members or the patients
themselves object to the procedure.

As you prepare your report, [ urge you to consider implementing
these recommendations. Our data suggest that, in order to have ad-
vance requests do what they are intended to do, we need to careful-
ly consider the reality that confronts the MAID providers. They al-
ready have the morally weighty job of providing MAID, and if this
legislation becomes law, they will be asked to take on the additional
challenge of providing MAID based on an advance request. The
success of the entire program depends upon our designing the ad-
vance request so that everyone—patients, families and MAID
providers alike—obtains the results we all want.

Thank you for your attention.
® (1845)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you very much,
Professor.

Lastly, we'll hear from Dr. Jennifer Gibson.

You have the floor for five minutes.

Dr. Jennifer Gibson (Associate Professor, Director of Joint
Centre for Bioethics, University of Toronto, As an Individual):
Thank you so much, and thank you for the invitation to meet with
you in this important study.

I am director of the University of Toronto's joint centre for
bioethics and an associate professor in the Dalla Lana school of
public health. However, this evening, I am speaking as an individu-
al, drawing upon my disciplinary background in bioethics and
health policy, and my experience as co-chair of the provincial-terri-
torial expert advisory group on physician-assisted dying in 2015,
and as chair of the advance request working group of the Council of
Canadian Academies' expert panel on medical assistance in dying
in 2018-19.

I've had the opportunity to listen to several testimonies by previ-
ous witnesses over the last week. In the next few minutes, I hope to
build on this testimony and indeed that of my colleagues on the
panel today, and offer the committee some points to consider in its
deliberation about the potential role, application and conditions of
advance requests for MAID.

A first point to consider is that, while advance requests for
MAID may be relevant to persons with dementia, they're not rele-
vant only to such persons. Discussions of advance requests for
MAID often focus on dementia as the root cause and reason for a
person's advance request. It is important, however, to distinguish
between the grievous and irremediable medical condition that may
lead someone to seek an advance request for MAID and the clinical
circumstances that may result in the loss of their decision-making
capacity. For some patients, dementia may be both a grievous and
irremediable medical condition and the basis of their loss of capaci-
ty; however, this is not necessarily the case.



4 AMAD-24

November 1, 2022

For example, consider an advance request for MAID from a per-
son who is in active treatment for cancer or heart disease, with an
uncertain prognosis, who is also at risk of a potentially life-limiting
event, such as a stroke. Consider a person who has inherited the
dominant gene for Huntington's disease or the gene for early
Alzheimer's and will most certainly develop the disease in the fu-
ture, but may be diagnosed with another grievous and irremediable
condition in the meantime. Consider a person who has been living
with Parkinson's disease for several years, knows that the end stage
of the disease might be accompanied by dementia and wishes to
plan for this possibility whilst they still have the capacity to do so.

It is important that a study of advance requests take this broader
range of circumstances into account.

® (1850)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): I'm sorry to interrupt,
Dr. Gibson.

Would you kindly move your mike up a little bit and also slow
down for our translators?

Thank you very much.
Dr. Jennifer Gibson: I'm happy to. Thank you.

A second point to consider is that persons with dementia can be
supported to live with dignity. There is much work to be done to
strengthen and create conditions for this. However, for some per-
sons, regardless of these conditions, advanced dementia may never-
theless be experienced as a source of intolerable suffering.

As you have heard from other witnesses, recent public opinion
surveys in Canada show strong support for advance requests for
MAID. Some witnesses have attributed this to a general fear of de-
mentia and institutionalized care, to limited accessibility of pallia-
tive care services or to embedded ageism and ableism within soci-
ety. The worry is that advance requests for MAID may tend to ex-
acerbate and reinforce systemic barriers and societal attitudes that
render persons with dementia, particularly seniors, vulnerable as a
group, and to displace needed efforts to provide dignity-enabling
care for all persons living with dementia.

However, a focus on vulnerable groups as such tends to occlude
the experience of individuals in the unique circumstances of their
lives, including the impact that illness may have on their personal
identity, their fundamental values and their ability to engage in the
world and the projects that matter to them and with the people they
care about. A study of advance requests must consider both the vul-
nerability of groups and of individuals without collapsing one into
the other.

A final point to consider is that, as several witnesses before me
have underlined, advance requests for MAID are complex under-
takings with known uncertainties; however, there may be ways, as
Dr. Reiner has pointed out, to reduce the complexity and narrow the
uncertainty gaps.

Advance requests for MAID raise important challenges about,
first, the clarity with which a person has described their circum-
stances under which their advance request should be enacted; sec-
ond, the concordance of a person's current situation with the cir-
cumstances outlined in that advance request; and third, the extent to

which the patient's wishes are known and understood by the care
team, the substitute decision-maker and family members. No piece
of legislation alone can do this, and indeed, our previous experience
with MAID in Canada underlines that multiple actors have a role to

play.

As this special joint committee study proceeds, one offering you
might serve all of us with is not only to be able to provide recom-
mendations regarding what legislation may look like, but a broad
canvas of what you've heard through each of these meetings that
may be able to foster directions for the fuller range of actors who
may have a role to play in its implementation and continuing evolu-
tion.

I look forward to exploring these points further with you and
with my panel colleagues.

Thank you.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you very much.

Thank you to all our witnesses.

We will now move into questions from our MPs, and we will be-
gin with Dr. Ellis.

Dr. Ellis, you have the floor for five minutes.

Mr. Stephen Ellis (Cumberland—Colchester, CPC): Thank
you very much, Chair.

Thank you to our witnesses for being here.

Through you, Chair, my first question will be for Dr. Perrot, if I
may.

You talked about frequent reassessments or, in Professor Reiner's
words, periodic reaffirmations. Can you give us a sense of how of-
ten those would be better suited to be done?

Dr. Chantal Perrot: I think Professor Reiner and I were talking
about two different things. When I see patients who would like an
advance request, but because they're not available we can't have
them, I will meet with them and then I'll touch base with them ev-
ery few months just to confirm their interest in MAID and to update
my assessment. I think he was talking about reaffirming an advance
request periodically, every three to five years or something like
that, which I certainly agree with.

Mr. Stephen Ellis: Just to be clear, Dr. Perrot, you believe that if
someone has a desire for MAID, their desire should be revisited ev-
ery two or three months.

® (1855)

Dr. Chantal Perrot: No, not in general. This is for patients who
are not ready to complete the assessment. If someone has complet-
ed the assessment, they want MAID and they're prepared to set a
date for MAID, then we do that. That date can be days, weeks or
even months down the road. However, if someone's not ready to
have the assessment completed, then I do what is called a “rolling”
assessment. It's done over time. Sometimes that is spread out over a
couple of years, even.

Mr. Stephen Ellis: Okay. I understand very clearly.
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Through you, Chair, I'll once again go to Dr. Perrot, if I may.

Do you believe that, in the words of Professor Reiner, there
should be reaffirmations as we go forward—i.e., “Hey, you know
what? Even if you say, yes, you want MAID, are you ready to con-
tinue with that?” Is that an important part of this for you?

Dr. Chantal Perrot: It's certainly an important part for advance
directives or advance requests. I think anybody who writes an ad-
vance directive, which one can do now, should be reaffirmed peri-
odically, three to five years or something like that, because then
you see the consistency over time of somebody's wishes. If you can
look at someone's advance directives over a period of five, 10, 15
or 20 years and you can see that their wishes are consistent over
that time, as a clinician I would feel much more comfortable pro-
viding MAID to somebody whose wishes I knew were consistent
over their lifetime as opposed to somebody whose wishes were sud-
denly changed with a more recent advance directive that had never
previously mentioned something like MAID.

Mr. Stephen Ellis: Understood. Thank you.
Through you, Chair, I'll once again go to Dr. Perrot.

As we get closer to that time, let's say you've established a rela-
tionship with that patient and you realize they have a dementing ill-
ness. Would it then be important to increase the frequency of those
reassessments?

Dr. Chantal Perrot: Yes, absolutely. Those would be reassess-
ments as a MAID provider for somebody who's actively seeking
MAID, certainly. As well, if somebody has an advance directive,
then that should be affirmed periodically in the course of their early
dementia. At some point they'll lose the capacity to understand
what the advance directive is, and at that point it should be stopped.

Mr. Stephen Ellis: Would it be on a case-by-case basis, or do
you believe there are more general ideas that could be implemented
here with respect to these aspects?

Dr. Chantal Perrot: | think any assessment should be done on a
case-by-case basis. There should be a certain amount of flexibility
built into the assessment process, but for something like advance
directives for MAID, and advance directives in general, I think they
should be reaffirmed or rewritten periodically. That should be writ-
ten into whatever rules or regulations come out with advance re-
quests.

I don't think a clinician could reasonably be expected to act on an
advance request that was written 25 years ago and was never revis-
ited or reaffirmed. That affirmation could be as simple as adding a
line to an advance directive with a statement saying, “I confirm the
wishes above of this advance directive”. That could be done period-
ically. I do think an advance directive or an advance request for
MAID has to be reaffirmed periodically.

Mr. Stephen Ellis: Thank you for that, Dr. Perrot.

Certainly, that makes it very difficult, for those of us trying to
create legislation around this, to understand those benchmarks and
barriers that need to be in place. I thank you for your comments
with respect to that.

In my last 30 seconds, through you, Chair, I have a question for
Professor Reiner.

Do you have any comments specifically around that?

Prof. Peter Reiner: Yes. I guess what I would say is that it's re-
ally in the interest of the patients, the requesters, to reaffirm as of-
ten as is appropriate, given their relationship with the provider, to
ensure that the consistency of their views is heard, because that
makes it more likely that they will get the result they asked for.

Mr. Stephen Ellis: Very good. That's understood, sir.

I guess the—

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): I'm sorry, Dr. Ellis.
You're out of time. Thank you very much.

Next, we'll have Mr. Maloney.

You have the floor for five minutes.

Mr. James Maloney (Etobicoke—Lakeshore, Lib.): Thanks,
Madam Chair.

Thank you to all of our witnesses for their comments so far. It's
very helpful.

Professor Reiner, I want to start with you.

Of your five points, I'll go to your fifth point, which was about
asking the requester to deal with unforeseen scenarios, or the third
party objections or obstacles that might arise at the end, when
you're not in a position, or don't have the capacity yourself, to re-
spond to them.

To get right to the point, can you flesh that out a bit for me?

Prof. Peter Reiner: Yes. It's entirely possible that you, as an in-
dividual—particularly as a dementing patient—might behave in a
fashion where you might resist at the time of provision. You might
be resisting all kinds of treatment at that point. That is a very diffi-
cult situation for a MAID provider to deal with. That's what they
have told us. Those sorts of situations are extremely stressful.
They're trying to figure out what the right thing to do is.

If it's explained to you, as an individual, that this sort of thing
happens from time to time, you can say, “If I am resisting, I want
you to go ahead.” That provides a degree of comfort. I don't think it
provides 100% assurance that everything will go as you wish, but it
provides a degree of comfort to the MAID provider—that they are
doing the right thing, at the right time, in the right circumstance.
There are a number of these kinds of things that go south, regularly,
as people's dementia progresses. Families intervene in various ways
that are problematic. There is even the situation discussed, here in
the committee, of the happy demented patient.

If you delineate what you want done in those situations, you give
clearer instructions to the MAID provider.
® (1900)

Mr. James Maloney: You're never going to get a situation where
you can cover off every scenario. Is that fair?

Prof. Peter Reiner: Yes.

Mr. James Maloney: What you're talking about is trying to an-
ticipate as many of the challenges as you can. That goes to your
fourth point, which is discussing the issue with family and close
contacts.
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Prof. Peter Reiner: That's correct.

I think you already heard from some MAID providers who have
suggested that nothing will be foolproof and guaranteed. What we
want to do is set up the situation so it is likely you get the outcome
you want, with the kinds of constraints that are important to you. If
your situation is that you don't want MAID if you're a happy de-
mented person, that's what you also need to put forward. For many
people, that might be the way they want to go.

Mr. James Maloney: This goes back to your premise that it's not
as simple as filling out a form. Doctors want to make sure the in-
structions are clear and there's informed consent, so that, when the
time comes, they know they are acting in accordance with the in-
structions of the individual.

If I understood you correctly, your point was that, if you add this
clarity, the number of doctors willing to comply with those instruc-
tions increases. Did I misunderstand you?

Prof. Peter Reiner: That's what we anticipate, yes. Of course,
we don't have advance requests for MAID. All we have is the hypo-
thetical we presented to those MAID providers.

Mr. James Maloney: Informed consent is the biggest part of
this. Informed consent means that the person providing instructions
to a medical practitioner understands as many of the scenarios,
risks and problems as can be anticipated at the time. If I'm in a situ-
ation where I'm coming to a doctor and making an advance request,
I understand that I might be in a position where I don't have the ca-
pacity, physically or mentally, to change my mind or convey a dif-
ferent message at the time.

Isn't that informed consent? I'm giving you consent, being fully
informed of the risks that are in place at the time.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): We need a brief an-
swer, Professor.

Prof. Peter Reiner: Yes. That seems to satisty what I would
consider to be informed consent.

Mr. James Maloney: Thank you very much.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you.

Next we'll have Monsieur Thériault for five minutes.

[Translation]
Mr. Luc Thériault: Thank you, Madam Chair.

I'd like to thank all the witnesses for their enlightening testimony.
I'll start with Prof. Reiner.

You were talking about periodic reaffirmation. We've heard from
several witnesses that, in all cases of degenerative neurocognitive
disease, the prerequisite is to make the diagnosis. I imagine you
agree that the first thing that's needed is a diagnosis and that there is
no question of an advance request without a diagnosis. For exam-
ple, there couldn't be an advance request that would be valid for
20 years. From what we've heard, a neurodegenerative disease can
worsen over a 10-year period, but it rarely takes 20 years. Do you
agree with that?

® (1905)
[English]

Prof. Peter Reiner: I can speak for myself that I generally agree,
but what I'm trying to represent for you are the perspectives of the
MAID providers. We didn't discuss that, so I'm hesitant to com-
ment.

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Thériault: So you're not sure that there has to be a di-
agnosis first before an advance request is accepted in the case of a
degenerative neurocognitive disease. Is that correct?

[English]

Prof. Peter Reiner: It's not that I'm not certain. It's that it was
outside of the domain of our study. It wasn't something that we
looked at.

[Translation]
Mr. Luc Thériault: Okay.

If I summarize the fourth and fifth possible solutions that you
proposed in your opening remarks, you say that there must be a dis-
cussion with the family. We've had several witnesses tell us that, in
preparing for the advance request, in addition to establishing the di-
agnosis, it is absolutely essential to designate a third party, that is,
the person who, when the time comes and according to the patient's
wishes, would initiate the medical team's assessment process.

Do you support that? In other words, this responsibility would
fall to this third party much more than to the family.

[English]

Prof. Peter Reiner: Yes. I think that's an extremely excellent
suggestion. The more people you confer with, the more people you
lodge your autonomous wishes with, the more likely you are to
have them expressed at the right time, when provision of MAID
should be delivered.

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Thériault: Treatment for degenerative neurocognitive
diseases is usually a process that takes place over time. A health
care team is involved in this process, and the person's wishes are
known to all.

Do you think legislation should be created to open up this possi-
bility, while leaving it up to the regulatory authorities to decide on
all the procedures for applying advance requests, given that they
are the ones with the necessary expertise?

[English]
Prof. Peter Reiner: I'm not sure I understand the question.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Thériault: Actually, what I'm saying is that it's the peo-
ple working in this area and the colleges of physicians, for exam-
ple, that have the clinical expertise required. Instead of putting ev-
erything in fine detail in a piece of legislation, we could have a
minimalist piece of legislation that, in practice, would leave it to
the regulatory authorities to set the guidelines.
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[English]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): We need a very brief
answer, Professor.

Prof. Peter Reiner: Yes. I think that's quite reasonable.

As I understand it, ultimately the decision to provide MAID is
going to rest with the MAID provider. The point of all of the rec-
ommendations that I put forward here, which came out of sugges-
tions from MAID providers, is setting up the structure so that they
are confident they are doing the right thing at the right time.

I don't think we want to add more work and burden on them. I
think the idea of a designated decision-maker who acts as a support
person for ensuring that the providers know it's the right time to do
what they need to do is what we should have.

® (1910)
The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you, Professor.

Next we'll have Mr. MacGregor.

You have the floor for five minutes.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor (Cowichan—Malahat—Langford,
NDP): Thank you very much, Madam Joint Chair.

Dr. Perrot, I'd like to start with you.

On this concept of relieving people's suffering and the existential
dread they have when facing end of life, we know that a major rea-
soning behind the amendments in Bill C-7 in the previous Parlia-
ment—the waiver of final consent—was to allow people to have a
little more peace of mind. If they were diagnosed with an incurable
disease that was on a downward decline, they at least could give fi-
nal consent before worrying about a loss of capacity.

You talked about how allowing for advance requests would allow
that as well for other patients, to relieve their suffering and any ex-
istential crisis they may have regarding a future loss of capacity.
Can you fill us in with a bit more detail on that, please?

Dr. Chantal Perrot: Sure. I think the main difference is that
with Audrey's amendment in Bill C-7, the person has to have set a
date for MAID. Many patients don't want to set a date for MAID
yet, but they can't sign that waiver of final consent until they have
set a date for MAID.

What patients are asking for is to be able to have an advance re-
quest that they could, in the event that they become incapable be-
fore they're willing and ready to set a date for MAID.... That's what
would relieve their anxiety and suffering. I have many patients who
would like MAID six months or a year down the road, but they
don't know exactly when and they feel stuck.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: You would say that's been negatively
affecting their life, having to weigh the decision that's before them?

Dr. Chantal Perrot: Absolutely. There were two patients I met
with yesterday. One is a 72-year-old man with chronic pain and
vascular dementia. He's living quite happily, but he wants to know
that if he had a stroke next week he would be able to have MAID.
However, he doesn't want to set a date for MAID. He's not suffer-
ing intolerably yet, so he wouldn't meet the criteria. He's not able
to....

Another is an 85-year-old woman with terminal cancer. What
she's living with kind of boggles my mind. She also doesn't want to
set a date. She knows that if she develops brain metastasis, she is
quite likely to lose capacity. She wants to be able to set an advance
request. She's somebody I will stay in close contact with, because |
am concerned about her losing capacity. I want her to have the
choice of MAID, but she's just not ready to set a date for MAID.

It would really make a difference for people like that.

I'm providing MAID for a woman in a couple of weeks. I first
met her a year and a half ago. What she really wanted was an ad-
vance request. Her past year and a half would have been much
more peaceful had she known that, in the event of incapacity, she
would be able to receive MAID. Now that she has set the date and
has a waiver of final consent, she's happy. She's much more at
peace.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Professor Reiner, I'd like to turn to
you now.

1 appreciate the five key points that you asked our committee to
pay attention to: the list of specific circumstances, a regular update
of wishes, why each circumstance would constitute suffering, dis-
cussing decisions with the family and also providing some context
when things don't go according to plan.

A lot of our witnesses talked about the present self making deci-
sions for the future self. I'm wondering, as a professor of neu-
roethics, how you have approached that particular argument. We
had a lot of people talk about how their present self....

I may not fully understand, as a 43-year-old, what my 75-year-
old self would want. Therefore, how could I properly make the de-
cisions for 75-year-old Mr. MacGregor? Can you lend some of your
expertise to that conversation?

Prof. Peter Reiner: Yes, I'd be happy to address this.

It's about autonomy. It's about how we project our autonomy. Re-
ally, what advance requests do is project our autonomy into the fu-
ture, into the person that we will become. We know that we change
all the time, from day to day. You are changed by my words in
some way at this moment. It's not that we are fixed people at any
time in our lives. It's really a matter of this question: If somebody is
to decide for me when I am in this debilitated condition at some un-
known time in the future, who best is in a position to make that de-
cision?

I think that as a scholar of the neurobiology of autonomy—be-
cause I've published on it extensively—I would say that clearly it is
me, but there is also a penumbra of autonomy that exists in the real-
ity where we're not quite as atomized individuals as we think.
That's where the family and friends and other people come in, and
including them in that discussion is very important. However, the
decision should properly rest with me.

® (1915)
Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you for that.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you very much.
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At this time, I will hand this over to my joint chair, Mr. Garneau,
for questions from senators.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau (Notre-Dame-de-
Grace—Westmount, Lib.)): Thank you, Senator Martin.

[Translation]
We're going to start with Senator Mégie.

You have three minutes.

Hon. Marie-Francoise Mégie (Senator, Quebec (Rougemont),
ISG): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I have a question for Dr. Gibson.

You said earlier that the patient had to describe the circumstances
for initiating the process. In other words, the person indicates when
it should happen. For example, it could be when they no longer rec-
ognize their family.

You also said that some of your patients need to be assessed ev-
ery three months. Who assesses them? Is it the physician who did
the initial assessment and determined that the person was eligible
for medical assistance in dying or could be after being diagnosed
with dementia? Is it this assessor who should see the person every
three months to determine if they want to continue with the request
for medical assistance in dying?

[English]

Dr. Jennifer Gibson: Madam Mégie, I think it may have been
Dr. Perrot who was talking about the iterative process of checking
in with her patients, but I'm happy to touch on this point because I
think it's really important. One of the reasons we may want to set
up a regime—whether it's legislative or regulatory, or whether it's a
focus on clinical guidelines—to have regular check-ins with pa-
tients who might have made an advance request is to confirm that
the terms and conditions of that request continue to be current. As
we see, especially with longitudinal neurological conditions, there
could be changes, life experience changes. As Dr. Reiner actually
pointed out right now, our views may actually change over time.

Being able to have those checkpoints is an opportunity for con-
firmation and affirmation, but as I learned from Dr. Poirier, who
spoke at a recent committee meeting, also reinforced by Dr. Perrot,
there are, depending on where patients may be in the trajectory of
their illnesses, more frequent check-ins or reassessments, and reaf-
firmations may be both valuable and welcomed, especially for pa-
tients who may be concerned and want to ensure that their condi-
tions are in place and that their advance requests will be honoured.

We need to be able to find a way to ensure that we have mecha-
nisms in place for that iterative reaffirmation without constraining
patients or the care providers who are working with them to a set of
guidelines that is so strict that it doesn't acknowledge and doesn't
follow the trajectory of particular patients in the circumstances of
their illnesses, where it's their affirmation of their continued ad-
vance request that needs to be confirmed.

[Translation]

Hon. Marie-Francoise Mégie: 1 apologize for putting those
words in your mouth.

I'll turn to Dr. Perrot.

Do you have enough resources to do this assessment every three
months? Is it something you've done before? I'm talking about sim-
ilar assessments that you might have done in other circumstances,
of course, since nothing has been adopted yet for advance requests.
How do you see that?

[English]
Dr. Chantal Perrot: I think there has been a misunderstanding
about my three-month re-evaluation. That comes when I'm actively

assessing a patient for medical assistance in dying. That's complete-
ly separate from an advance request.

An advance request, I think, should be reaffirmed every three to
five years; whereas, if I'm assessing a patient for MAID who is not
ready to set a date for MAID yet, I will check in with them in three
months' time to see to where they are in their illness process. Usual-
ly, when patients contact me for MAID, they're closer to end of life
and their conditions are more fragile and unstable, so I want to
make sure that I catch them, if they want MAID, at a time when
they're still able to proceed with it.

I apologize for that misunderstanding.
® (1920)
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Sena-
tor Mégie.

Hon. Marie-Francoise Mégie: Thank you.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Go ahead, Sena-
tor Dalphond. You have three minutes.

Hon. Pierre Dalphond (Senator, Quebec (De Lorimier), ISG):
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Dr. Reiner didn't really answer my colleague Mr. Thériault's
question, but I'll ask Dr. Perrot the same question.

You've sort of defined advance directives, but I'm not sure what
you mean when you talk about directives being given 15, 20 or
25 years before the event. Are you talking about cases where a per-
son gives an advance directive that they want to receive medical as-
sistance in dying if they have a heart attack or end up in this or that
condition, which could happen 20 years later, for example?

Other experts have told us that we need to focus on dementia and
irreversible neurocognitive diseases instead. That's what Canadians
seem to be concerned about. In these cases, isn't a diagnosis needed
beforehand so that the information and reflection process can be
initiated, and the person can give advance directives indicating very
precisely at what stage in life they want to receive medical assis-
tance in dying?

Dr. Perrot, did you hear the interpretation of what I just said?
[English]

Dr. Chantal Perrot: Was that question for me? I thought it was
for Professor Reiner.

Hon. Pierre Dalphond: No. I said that he did not answer the
question, so I ask the same question of you. I can repeat it in En-
glish.
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You sometimes refer to 15 years or 20 years ahead of the condi-
tion, which seems to indicate that I could do it and say, if I had a
car accident and I remained brain damaged, I could receive MAID.
Other experts have said that it should be limited to neurocognitive
diseases. Therefore, once the diagnosis has been given that you're
suffering from Alzheimer's and you still have the ability, you can
inform yourself, you can talk with the consultants, you can talk
with your team and then start planning, if you want it, at what
stage, defined precisely, you should receive it.

Dr. Chantal Perrot: I think an advance request should be able to
be made for anybody, whether they have a diagnosis of an illness or
not, because, with some illnesses like cancers with brain metastasis
or dementia, you can be pretty certain that, at some point, there's is
going to be a loss of capacity.

Any of us could lose capacity tomorrow through a stroke, a heart
attack, a car accident or whatever. I personally would like to be able
to have an advance request for MAID, and I have clearly delineated
the criteria that I would want to be met in order for me to have that,
and [ have that in my advance directive for if and when it becomes
legal.

I think that's really important, so yes, I don't think it should only
be for neurodegenerative conditions.

Hon. Pierre Dalphond: Then, if I understand properly, what
you're saying is that, since that might be over a long span, it should
be reaffirmed or reassessed periodically every three to five years.

Dr. Chantal Perrot: Absolutely. I think one should rewrite or
reaffirm an advance request, the same way that I think we should
do that with wills and powers of attorney in general, to make sure
that our wishes are consistent.

To Mr. MacGregor's point, his 45-year-old self may not know
what his 75-year-old self will be, but I would hope that, if he writes
an advance directive at 45, he would review it at 50, 55, 60, 65, 70
and 75. His 70-year-old self might know better what his 75-year-
old self would want.

The other thing—

[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Sena-
tor Dalphond.

[English]
We'll go to Senator Kutcher now for three minutes.

Hon. Stanley Kutcher (Senator, Nova Scotia, ISG): Thank you
very much, Chair.

I have two questions. The first question is or Dr. Reiner and Dr.
Perrot, and then the second question is for Professor Gibson.

There's a difference between legislative dictum and standards of
practice and regulation of practice. How would you look at what
we're talking about today? Would you look at it as legislation
telling physicians and patients how they should interact with each
other, or should there be a standard of practice that physicians and
regulators rely on to oversee the practice of MAID, particularly
around this area as well? If you are in agreement, who should set
that standard of practice and how should it be regulated?

Prof. Peter Reiner: I'll speak first.

I think it makes sense for it to be a standard of practice. It could
fall under the regulation of provincial colleges of physicians, or
something like that. I think that would be sufficient.

The point of all of this is to try to make sure that everything goes
as smoothly as possible, rather than tie it up in some regulatory
regime that ensures that tick boxes are checked.

® (1925)

Dr. Chantal Perrot: I agree 100%. I think it should be standard
of practice, not legislated. It doesn't make sense to put in the legis-
lation all the details that should be met. There are some details that
are in the legislation currently that I wish were standard of practice.
It would give more flexibility.

However, I think the standards of practice can be created. There
will be advance directives or advance requests that will be written
today. If they're written today, they will be refined over time. We
will get better at it as we have experience.

As a clinician, I include things in my MAID assessments today
that I did not include five and a half or six years ago, because |
have learned over time. There are things I include in the waivers of
final consent agreements that I write with patients now that I did
not include when I first started out, because I've learned through
experience. It's my own experience, in particular, but also my col-
leagues'.

A template for an advance request would evolve and improve
over time.

Hon. Stanley Kutcher: Professor Gibson, you mentioned you
felt that “multiple actors have a role to play”. I wonder if you
would mind expanding on that statement for us.

Dr. Jennifer Gibson: Thank you for the question. I think it
builds on your previous one.

If we think about it, there's the legislation. The clinical guide-
lines being developed by those who are best equipped, as clinicians,
to inform what the practice may look like are going to be important.
However, there are other actors who we want to be thinking about.

One key actor here—whom I know has been identified at this
committee and who surfaces fairly frequently—is the substitute de-
cision-maker. They play such an essential role in this process. Dr.
Reiner's process that he's outlined is very well suited to supporting
a substitute decision-maker to be well equipped with an under-
standing of why a patient may be seeking an advance request, and
to be able to be part of that deliberative process. That is an actor. I
think there are other actors who have essential roles to play in en-
suring that the system around this works well.
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A strength of the original Bill C-14, our original legislation, was
that there was a monitoring system in place. We were able to track
and understand what was going on in the practice and be able to
guide continuing policy evolution. However, that is high level, and
it often uses quantitative data in reporting statistics. It's very helpful
at a population level, but we need to go further down.

Some of the other opportunities we have to strengthen this sys-
tem as a whole are to continue to foster the types of research that
Dr. Reiner has been pursuing and to continue to foster the learning
and the training of health professionals that Dr. Perrot is sharing as
well. Everyone is in.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Doctor.

We'll now go to Senator Martin for three minutes.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you, Joint Chair.

I don't have enough time to ask all of my questions. As we come
to a close on advance directives, I feel like we have so much more
to explore. This is a very important and big topic.

Maybe I can focus on the restrictions that are needed to ensure
that we really are doing the right things. For instance, under what
strict conditions should the arrangements be made for advance di-
rectives, and under what conditions should the procedure be aban-
doned?

We talk about family involvement along the way. I know there
are sometimes issues with family involvement, both positive and
negative. At what point should an advance directive or a procedure
be abandoned? If we're expanding advance directives beyond the
waiver of final consent currently allowed, what protections are nec-
essary? I'm focusing on the protections that are needed for a very
reliable system.

I'll begin with Dr. Perrot, and then Professor Reiner.

Go ahead, Dr. Perrot.

Dr. Chantal Perrot: I would say the clearer and more filled with
detail an advance request can be, the more information will be pro-
vided to a MAID provider.

It's important to recognize that MAID providers won't meet a pa-
tient until an advance request is acted upon and the MAID provider
is contacted to provide MAID for somebody. The MAID provider
never meets the person when they are capable. They have to be able
to understand what that person would have wanted, based on their
advance request—

® (1930)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Is the form consistent?
Is there a standard such that you're collecting these details consis-
tently across the board? Would you explain a bit about the form that
is used or the process?

Dr. Chantal Perrot: An advance request is written usually in a
lawyer's office, with a power of attorney document, I would think.
The centre for bioethics had an excellent template a couple of years
ago. I wish they had not stopped producing it. Dying with Dignity
Canada has an excellent template. There are a number out there that
I have used, and I pull from a number of them to create the advance

requests that I have written and the ones that I recommend my pa-
tients use, but there is no master template that is used universally.

We don't have a master template, certainly, for advance requests
for MAID, because it's not possible yet. There is no master tem-
plate for the waiver of final consent. I drafted my own when it be-
came legal, and I have revised it over time, improving it and adding
things to it, so that it's as clear as possible to me. When I meet the
patient, I want to understand what they need and want, what their
suffering is and what their criteria would be. I ask them to write
things down, and I help them to draft it in a way that makes sense
to me.

Usually, there are family members or friends present when that's
done, so that they understand what's going on as well. However, |
have to say that I also have a lot of patients who do not have family
members close by—who don't have family members at all or don't
have family members that they can trust to do this—so I am con-
cerned with the idea of having to include family.

I have a couple of patients right now whose families are being
very obstructionist and are not allowing them to proceed with
MAID, and I can't do anything without their co-operation. It makes
it very difficult for the patients who are not getting access. I think
that may be even more pronounced if there's an advance request
that requires a family member to be involved.

I hope that answers your question.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Senator
Martin.

I'll now turn it back to you.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Okay.

If I may, I will again thank our witnesses for their testimony this
evening. It's very helpful to all of us as we continue our study.
Thank you so much.

We'll suspend for a few minutes to get ready for our second pan-

el.
® (1930)
(Pause)
® (1935)
The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): We will resume, col-
leagues.

I have a few comments for the benefit of our new witnesses. Be-
fore speaking, please wait until you are recognized by name by one
of the joint chairs. I will remind you that all comments should be
addressed through the joint chairs.
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When speaking, please speak slowly and clearly. Interpretation in
this video conference will work like it does in an in-person commit-
tee meeting. You have the choice at the bottom of your screen of
floor, English or French. When you are not speaking, please keep
your microphone on mute. Thank you very much.

Welcome to all of our panellists for this discussion on mature mi-
nors. It's a very important topic for us. We really appreciate the
time you're giving our committee.

We have three panellists with us—Dr. Kathryn Morrison, clinical
and organizational ethicist; Dr. Gordon Gubitz, professor, division
of neurology, department of medicine, faculty of graduate studies at
Dalhousie University; and Kimberley Widger, associate profes-
sor—all by video conference.

I will begin with Dr. Kathryn Morrison.

You have the floor for five minutes.

Dr. Kathryn Morrison (Clinical and Organizational Ethicist,
As an Individual): Thank you.

Good evening. Thank you to the committee joint chairs and
members for the invitation. I am deeply honoured by the opportuni-
ty to speak with the committee on this very important topic.

I am a philosopher, having completed my Ph.D. in applied phi-
losophy at the University of Waterloo last year. My dissertation re-
search considers moral arguments regarding mature minor eligibili-
ty for medical assistance in dying, MAID. The scope of this work is
focused on cases of minors who have a reasonably foreseeable nat-
ural death—that is, track one.

I also bring the perspective of a practising health care ethicist at a
large hospital network in Ontario, where our service supports pa-
tients, families and health care teams who encounter challenging
situations regarding informed consent, capacity and quality end-of-
life care. As part of my clinical ethics role I support one of four
specialized pediatric hospitals in Ontario. Our service also supports
the institution's MAID team, where I had the privilege of doing
MAID coordination during my ethics fellowship.

The views I bring to the committee are my own and do not repre-
sent the views of the organization I work for.

MAID for mature minors is an emotionally challenging topic
presenting unique challenges when it comes to core values outlined
in the Carter decision. Society has an interest in protecting vulnera-
ble persons, and children are often perceived as vulnerable, entail-
ing stronger duties to child well-being than that of adults. However,
at the same time, there are societal duties to autonomy, especially
respecting capable persons to make decisions about their own med-
ical care and avoiding forcing persons to endure intolerable suffer-
ing against their will.

Children have a legal right to decision-making autonomy corre-
sponding to their level of maturity. This tension between welfare
and autonomy puts significant scrutiny on a mature minor's capaci-
ty to make such a serious decision.

I wish to present three considerations to the committee, which I
believe provide compelling reasons for mature minors to be eligible
for MAID under track one. The first is the concern that excluding

minors from accessing MAID is discriminatory. The 2016 report of
the Special Joint Committee on Physician-Assisted Dying articu-
lates that mature “minors can suffer as much as any adult”. It is also
conceivable that minors with a grievous and irremediable medical
condition who are prohibited from MAID can experience the same
harms as adults.

This differential treatment is challenging to justify in the same
way we would justify age distinctions in other contexts, including
decisions to marry, drive, drink alcohol, smoke tobacco or use
cannabis. After all, in the context of treatment decisions, decision-
making authority is usually based in presumptions of capacity
rather than a firm age distinction.

Secondly, child well-being is not always synonymous with pro-
longing life. In end-of-life decisions, well-being can be informed
by dignity and quality of life, and should take into account the
harms of forcing mature minors to endure intolerable suffering
against their will.

Lastly, it's important to acknowledge that mature minors already
make incredibly high-stakes medical decisions, including the deci-
sion to refuse life-sustaining treatment. I argue that refusing life-
sustaining treatment—that is, a decision to die when one could oth-
erwise live—is a far more serious type of decision than the decision
for MAID under track one, which is choosing to control how one
dies when death is unavoidable. In this sense, mature minors are al-
ready treated as meeting the threshold of capacity and maturity re-
quired to understand the implications of MAID.

It is challenging to reconcile these considerations under track one
with the recent expansion of the law to include persons without a
reasonably foreseeable natural death—that is track two—and antic-
ipated inclusion of mental illness as the sole underlying condition.
While at face value track two and mental illness as the sole under-
lying condition requests carry a similar weight to the decision to
refuse life-sustaining treatment, there is considerable uncertainty
regarding the particular vulnerabilities of these patient populations.
I would be concerned at the prospect of extending eligibilities to
these groups at this time.

1 will close by emphasizing that the uncertainties raised by track
two and mental illness as the sole underlying condition should not
undermine the case for a mature minor to access MAID under track
one.

Again, I thank the committee members for their attention and
consideration.

® (1940)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you very much,
Dr. Morrison.

Next we'll have Dr. Gordon Gubitz for five minutes.
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Dr. Gordon Gubitz (Professor, Division of Neurology, Depart-
ment of Medicine, Faculty of Graduate Studies at Dalhousie
University, As an Individual): I would like to thank the committee
for having me here this evening to provide some insights and opin-
ions.

First off, I have an apology. I thought I was going to be speaking
about advance directives, but I'm happy to provide comments and
thoughts about any aspect of MAID and MAID care.

I work as a neurologist in my day-to-day work. I work with peo-
ple who have had strokes, many of whom experience intolerable
suffering after and cannot access MAID because of a lack of capac-
ity. I have been a MAID assessor and provider in Nova Scotia since
the law began in 2016. I am the clinical lead for medical assistance
in dying in Nova Scotia with respect to administration and trying to
promote good policy, etc. Finally, I am co-chairing and chairing a
national committee that's looking at developing educational stan-
dards for MAID across the country. It is funded by Health Canada
and I'm very grateful for their involvement in this process.

When medical assistance in dying for mature minors was men-
tioned, I was taken immediately to a case that I actually saw and
worked with. It was a young woman who began her medical jour-
ney when she was 19, which was just above being a mature minor.
She suffered from an intolerable pain problem. She lived with that
pain problem for five years. She saw endless numbers of medical
specialists, surgical specialists and underwent numerous different
treatments for her problem.

When I was asked to see her, it was because track two legislation
had just been introduced. I was asked to do an assessment to deter-
mine whether she was eligible for a medically assisted death even
though her natural death was not reasonably foreseeable.

On the basis of a review of her entire medical history, my under-
standing of the nature of the problem, which was neurological in
nature, and in discussion with consulting experts across the country,
I came to the understanding that her natural death was not reason-
ably foreseeable, but there was no option for further treatment for
her. Just shy of her 23rd birthday, she had a medically assisted
death in her home surrounded by her family and I was there to pro-
vide the medication that brought that about.

In many ways, the experience of that death was an experience for
the entire family. They had gone through this journey with her,
from when she was underage and beginning to experience the diffi-
culty with this problem, all the way through helping her understand
and move forward with the treatment decisions, etc.

In getting to know her, it became quite obvious that she had be-
come an expert in her own problem. She had done the research, she
had listened to the doctors and she had listened to the therapists,
etc. She weighed her options and she finally made the decision that
she would not want to go through some experimental therapies,
which were not likely to help her going forward. She engaged in
very frank and open conversations with her parents. They were not
necessarily onside initially and there was some family strife as a re-
sult of that, but eventually they came around and were able to sup-
port her.

At the end of the day, she is the closest experience I have with a
mature minor in terms of an ability to go through this process and
see it through to the other end. Her death was peaceful. She was
surrounded by her family and her friends, who lingered. We stayed
around after and I can't remember how many pots of tea we drank
while talking about her journey and telling stories. I'm still in con-
tact with her family to this day, periodically.

Unfortunately, I don't have the academic background that Dr.
Morrison brings to this process, but I think the clinical aspects of
this are very similar to what goes on with adults. It's all about com-
munication. It's all about ensuring capacity. It's all about under-
standing your options and being able to act upon them. Age doesn't
necessarily define what that understanding ought to look like or
could look like. I know plenty of people who are in their forties
who are not capable of making decisions and they are not unwell.

1 think I will yield at this point because I am finished.
® (1945)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you very much.
Next, we will have Professor Kimberley Widger.

You have the floor for five minutes.

Professor Kimberley Widger (Associate Professor, Lawrence
S. Bloomberg Faculty of Nursing, University of Toronto, As an
Individual)): Thank you very much, and thank you for the invita-
tion to speak today.

I am an associate professor in the Lawrence S. Bloomberg facul-
ty of nursing at the University of Toronto, and I hold a tier-two
Canada research chair in pediatric palliative care. Prior to shifting
my focus to research, I worked for 12 years as a staff nurse, mostly
providing care to children with cancer but also to those with other
types of life-threatening illnesses.

The overarching goal of my program of research is to examine
and enhance the provision of palliative care for children living with
a life-threatening illness and their families so that every child who
might benefit receives optimal care.

Unfortunately, my research continues to show that many children
do not have access to specialized pediatric palliative care, and there
are some concerning inequities in who accesses this care. Much of
this research was highlighted in the final report of the expert panel
working group on MAID for mature minors through the Council of
Canadian Academies. I was a member of the working group.

My comments will focus on the implications of my research for
the care provided to mature minors and their potential eligibility for
MAID.

Palliative care is seen as a fundamental human right. It focuses
on minimizing suffering and maximizing quality of life. It is meant
to be provided from the time a child is diagnosed with a life-threat-
ening condition through to the end of their life.
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Palliative care can be delivered in different ways, but my re-
search has primarily focused on the care delivered by specialized
pediatric palliative care teams, namely, interprofessional teams of
health professionals, typically doctors, nurses, social workers, child
life specialists, spiritual care providers and others who have exper-
tise in both the care of children and in palliative care.

One of my first studies was to examine the teams who provided
this specialized care and the children who received it. In 2002,
there were only seven teams like this in Canada, and they provided
care to only about one in every 20 children who might benefit. We
repeated the study in 2012 and found there were 13 teams provid-
ing care to one in five children who might benefit.

As of 2022, there are 17 teams, but I don’t yet have the statistics
on how many children have been receiving this care across the
country in the last year. However, based on a couple of relatively
recent studies we've done just focused on Ontario, about one in
three children who died from a life-threatening condition received
care from one of these teams. Clearly, there have been improve-
ments over time, but the progress has been very slow over the last
20 years.

In Ontario, we've looked more closely at children who died from
cancer and found that those living in the lowest-income areas and
those living furthest away from a tertiary children’s hospital were
least likely to receive specialist palliative care. Given the Canadian
geography, it may not be surprising that those living further away
were less likely to access care.

Couldn’t it just be provided by adult palliative care providers or
general pediatricians? Absolutely. Many of the specialist teams
work with these other providers to be able to provide care closer to
home, acting as consultants so the child still gets the benefits of the
specialist team.

We were able to compare the children who received at least some
of their care through the specialized teams with those who received
palliative care but without involvement of a specialist team and
those who had no indication that they had received any type of pal-
liative care. We found that those with the specialist care were dra-
matically less likely to have frequent visits to the hospital, to the in-
tensive care unit and to the emergency department in the last 30
days of their lives, and they were much less likely to die in the hos-
pital than those who got no palliative care. Unfortunately, the mid-
dle group, the ones who got some kind of palliative care outside of
a specialist team, were no different in terms of hospital visits or dy-
ing in the hospital from those who got no palliative care.

Specialist teams make a difference in the support provided to
children and families. As I said at the outset, these teams are ex-
perts in providing pain and symptom management, addressing psy-
chosocial and existential concerns, supporting families and maxi-
mizing quality of life while minimizing suffering. However, not all
Canadian children are able to access these services.

I cannot see how we could allow a mature minor to choose
MAID unless all support options are fully explored by a specialized
team of health professionals who do this work every day. My great-
est fear would be that a 16- or 17-year-old who does not have ac-

cess to this type of care would be left feeling that MAID is his or
her only option.

® (1950)

Thank you.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you very much.
Thank you to all our witnesses for their testimony today.
We will begin our first round of questions with Madam Vien.

Madam Vien, you have five minutes.
[Translation]

Mrs. Dominique Vien (Bellechasse—Les Etchemins—Lévis,
CPC): Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

I'd like to thank all the witnesses for sharing their thoughts and
knowledge with us. We've studied many aspects of this legislation
in the course of reviewing it, and probably the most affecting is this
one, the whole issue of mature minors.

Dr. Morrison, thank you for your testimony. I have three ques-
tions for you. Take the time to explain what you think.

First, how do you determine that a young person has the capacity
to make such an informed decision?

Second, do we have enough data on that? After all, there are very
few places on the planet where medical assistance in dying is avail-
able to mature minors. It seems to me that it hasn't been document-
ed well enough for us to embark on this journey. I'm not saying that
I'm against it—quite the contrary—nor that I'm in favour of it. It's
just that I have a lot of questions.

Finally, what criteria or safeguards should be included in this re-
vised legislation if, in our power as legislators, we decide to allow
mature minors to have access to medical assistance in dying?

Those are my three questions. You're an expert, so I'm listening.
[English]

Prof. Kimberley Widger: Thank you. I think—
[Translation]

Mrs. Dominique Vien: My questions are for Dr. Morrison.
[English]

Dr. Kathryn Morrison: My apologies. I did hear Professor

Widger as well, but I'm happy to take a stab at answering some of
the questions.
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I'll start with the question of capacity. We know that capacity is
often formulated as being time- and treatment-specific. A patient
could be found capable of making one kind of decision while inca-
pable of making another kind of decision. In the context of some of
my research and some of my practice, we have seen mature minors
in situations where they are able to make decisions that entailed
quite a bit of complexity as far as understanding and appreciation
were concerned. There are many factors at play there, whether it be
experience of illness, experience of suffering, child development or
how their beliefs, values and cultural norms might apply to the de-
cisions where there are elements of subjective value inherent in
some of these questions.

We also see that there are usually different weights assigned to
decisions. The more grave the decision, usually we see a need for a
higher threshold. What some of my work argues is that we actually
see situations where mature minors make incredibly weighty deci-
sions that have grave consequences, especially when it comes to a
decision to choose to die where there's the option of having a long
and lengthy future in some cases. In those situations we regard mi-
nors as being capable. In situations where a mature minor is at the
end of their life, they are not facing a lengthy future and they're
thinking through all their options on how they wish to die. Often-
times we see those decisions as, I argue, comparatively less
weighty.

When it comes to safeguards, I just want to mention that there
are many safeguards outlined quite clearly in the Council of Cana-
dian Academies report.

® (1955)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Madam Vien, you have
one minute remaining.

[Translation]

Mrs. Dominique Vien: Mrs. Widger, you were going to jump in.
If you have anything to add, we'd be happy to hear it.

[English]

Prof. Kimberley Widger: Yes. I had heard my name in the first
round as well. I'm sorry.

At any rate, in terms of the safeguards, my safeguard is maybe
obvious. Pediatric palliative care specialists need to be involved in
assessing these children and making sure they truly have explored
all options that are available. It's sort of “you don't know what you
don't know” in some cases. Someone might feel they are doing a
fabulous job of doing that exploration, but it really takes a team ef-
fort of specialists in the area. For me, that would be the minimum
to have available.

COVID has made it better, in some ways, that some of this care
can be done more so over long distance—

[Translation]

Mrs. Dominique Vien: Since this is a very important issue, do
you think that health care professionals could refuse to administer
medical assistance in dying to young people simply on the basis of
their age, when they would otherwise administer it to adults?

[English]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Madame Vien, we are
over time.

Please answer very briefly, Professor Widger.

Prof. Kimberley Widger: I couldn't catch the end of that. I'm
sorry.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Okay, we are over
time, so we'll move on.

We'll go next to Monsieur Arseneault for five minutes.

[Translation]

Mr. René Arseneault (Madawaska—Restigouche, Lib.):

Thank you, Madam Chair.

1'd like to thank all the witnesses for being with us. They're here
this evening to discuss a very sensitive issue, the issue of mature
minors.

My first question is for Dr. Gubitz.

Dr. Gubitz, you candidly admitted to us that you thought you
were here to talk about advance requests. Ultimately, your work ex-
perience allows you to be part of the discussion.

You told us about a young girl who had suffered intensely for
five years, before she reached the age of 19 and was able to apply
for medical assistance in dying. You said that, in her case, it wasn't
a question of age, but of ability to understand.

Can you tell us more about that, taking into account the frame-
work of an application from a mature minor?

[English]

Dr. Gordon Gubitz: In this particular circumstance, I'll link
back to something Dr. Morrison mentioned. It's the idea that capac-
ity is a fluid thing. We can recognize that children might have ca-
pacity to make a decision about what they want to wear to go to
school, what they want to do or how they want to do it based on the
information that's available to them.

Obviously, Dr. Morrison's experience and research have demon-
strated that children certainly do have capacity to make health care
decisions, medical decisions, within the context of their understand-
ing. I think it really does come down to ensuring that enough has
been done to allow the child to explore the issues as best they can,
to speak about it in a language that is common to them, that makes
sense to them, and to reflectively respond to questions about their
experience to get a sense of their understanding, the same as we do
in the adult world: Do you understand what happened to you? Do
you understand where you're at now? Do you understand what the
future is likely to hold? What do you think about that? Do you un-
derstand what your options are?

We might have to do this in slightly different ways—
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[Translation]

[English]

Mr. René Arseneault: I'm sorry to interrupt, but my time is very
short, and your comments lead me to my next question.

When it comes to analyzing a person's capacity, is there a differ-
ence between a mature minor, that is, a young person who, by your
definition, has the intellectual capacity to reason and understand
their situation, and an adult? Are there additional safeguards to con-
sider?

[English]

Dr. Gordon Gubitz: I think it will be very situationally specific.
It has to do with the child's development and their overall under-
standing. I'm not a pediatrician. I'm not a pediatric neurologist. I
think, as Ms. Widger has said, making sure that we have the right
people engaged with the children who are in the process of under-
standing their mortality, etc., is similar to what we do in track two
for adults right now, where we need to have someone doing an as-
sessment who has expertise in the condition.

If the people who are doing the assessments don't have expertise
in that condition, I really need, as an assessor, to understand that all
that can be done has been done to allow us to understand that the
patient in front of us knows what's going on. It will probably be
much more complex, but I agree with Ms. Widger that there will
need to be very specific safeguards for these children, who, hope-
fully, are not going to be coming by the hundreds. That would be
terrible. There will be very specific children who will meet the cri-
teria and will be found by people doing the assessments to have ca-
pacity to make decisions about their health.

[Translation]

Mr. René Arseneault: Dr. Morrison, after hearing Dr. Gubitz's
testimony, can you tell us if you think there should be additional
safeguards for mature minors? If so, what should those measures
be?

[English]
The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Be very brief, please.
Dr. Kathryn Morrison: Thank you very much for that question.

I will endorse the testimony of the other two expert witnesses on
the need for clinicians with expertise with this population.

I also want to emphasize that, when we think about decision-
making, the alternatives to a decision are essential parts of in-
formed consent. That's also true of mature minors. When we think
about a decision, the alternatives need to be clearly laid out and as
accessible as possible.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you very much.
Next, we will have Monsieur Thériault.
You have the floor for five minutes.

[Translation]
Mr. Luc Thériault: Thank you very much, Madam Chair.
Dr. Gubitz and Dr. Morrison, in the case of mature minors be-

tween the ages of 14 and 17, should the legislation require parental
consent, if not parental consultation?

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Dr. Morrison can be-
gin, followed by Dr. Gubitz.

Go ahead, Dr. Morrison.

Dr. Kathryn Morrison: I apologize. It felt as if we were in
Zoom freeze.

That's a really important question to ask, because we know, in
the Benelux countries where mature minors are able to access med-
ical assistance in dying, parental consent is a requirement, at least
in some cases.

It's a challenge because parental presence in medical decision-
making is often seen as autonomy enhancing, in some respects.
However, we encounter cases where there are deep concerns about
how the role of the parents might impact autonomous decision-
making for minors. As we see in the adult context, when it comes
to MAID practice, the role of family members can be a dual chal-
lenge—autonomy supporting but also autonomy limiting.

One big challenge, when it comes to mature minors, is compati-
bility with our framework around treatment decisions. Oftentimes,
when a patient—including minors—is capable, there is usually no
role for family members to be making decisions on that patient's
behalf. I think it would be a challenge to require parental consent.

Consultation is a bigger conversation.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Go ahead, Dr. Gubitz.

Dr. Gordon Gubitz: I would agree.

Once again, I'm not an expert on the legal definition of “mature
minor”, so I think the committee may wish to have a look at that
and get an opinion about what we are actually speaking about when
we speak about a mature minor, as opposed to an emancipated mi-
nor, etc.

I agree that family is important. In the over-18 world, when we
think about medical assistance in dying, we don't necessarily talk
about family. We talk about those who are supporting them, be-
cause families come in all sorts of shapes and sizes. Some are very
toxic and some are very supportive, so fortunately—

[Translation]

Mr. Luc Thériault: I'm sorry to interrupt. You said at the outset
that you agreed. Do you agree with Dr. Morrison that there should
be a legislative requirement for consultation, and not a legislative
requirement for consent?
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[English]

Dr. Gordon Gubitz: I think an assent approach would be more
useful. It's really about the conversation, the nature of the relation-
ship with the family and recognizing that, if this child is very ill and
will die, the family is going to carry on afterwards. You would
rather have a family that can carry on together, as a unified whole,
than a family that is fractured into pieces and never speaks to each
other again.

That can be the role of the team involved in doing the assess-
ments and providing that level of support.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Thériault: I imagine that these decisions, which are
very rare, are made harmoniously in the majority of cases. Is that
what you see in your practice, Dr. Gubitz? That's the first question.

Second, should access to medical assistance in dying for mature
minors be limited to track one patients?
[English]

Dr. Gordon Gubitz: Unfortunately, sir, I'm not a pediatrician, so
I can't really comment on that. It is not my practice. I deal with
people who are able to give their own consent.

I would defer to the expertise of the other witnesses around that
who study—
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Thériault: In this case, I'll ask Dr. Morrison to answer.

I'm sorry for interrupting you, Dr. Gubitz.
[English]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): We need a very brief
answer.

Dr. Kathryn Morrison: My apologies, but could the question be
repeated? I also want to stay in my lane, as I am not a pediatrician
either.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): We are running out of
time.
[Translation]

Mr. Luc Thériault: Thank you, Madam Chair.

Should access to medical assistance in dying for mature minors

be limited to track one patients, in other words, patients at the end
of life, whose death is reasonably foreseeable?

[English]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Answer briefly, Dr.
Morrison.

Dr. Kathryn Morrison: My apologies, but I'm just hearing the
translation. I'm having some trouble interpreting the question.

I interpret it as allowing for mature minors to access MAID un-
der track one, and I think—

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you, Dr. Morri-
son.

Unfortunately, with the time, we have to move on. You have my
apologies for that.

I'm going to give the floor to Mr. MacGregor for five minutes.
® (2010)

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you very much, Madam Joint
Chair.

Thank you to our witnesses. It is a very difficult subject.

1 appreciate this as a parent, first and foremost. I think the diffi-
culty is that parents are driven by a desire to protect their children,
but at the same time are juxtaposing that with a child who might be
undergoing obvious suffering.

1 guess we are lucky in a way, in that each of our provinces al-
ready have provincial laws in place, health care laws in place. In
my home province of British Columbia, they state, “In general,
parental consent for health care in BC is sought for children 12
years of age and younger. However, there is no legal age of con-
sent”. Basically, “‘Mature minor consent' is the consent a child or
youth gives to receive health care after the child has been assessed
by a healthcare provider as having the necessary understanding to
give consent.”

Dr. Morrison, I know it's not so much tied to an age. It's tied to
the general understanding that the child has.

Can you, first of all, give us an example? When a child comes in
with their parents, how do you guide that relationship? Do you have
a time when you sit down with the child alone? Can you give us an
example of the types of questions that are asked to try to assess
whether that child has an understanding of what's coming their
way?

Dr. Kathryn Morrison: Thank you for the question.

Unfortunately, I am not a physician and I'm not a frontline health
care provider, so I do not do capacity assessments.

I would defer to the other witnesses on this question.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Dr. Gubitz, do you have anything to
add that could help guide us on that?

Dr. Gordon Gubitz: I can only reflect on what happens in a situ-
ation with adults.

We often will do interviews with the person seeking a MAID as-
sessment and their supporters—their loved ones or whomever. We
will often find a way to have a conversation separately with the per-
son, just to ensure that they're not being coerced one way or the
other into making a decision.

More often than not, when people are thinking about this, they've
been thinking about it for a long time. Oftentimes when they come,
they come with somebody who has been there with them on that
journey. They understand the illness. They understand that this is
going to be a difficult conversation. They're there to be supportive.
Rarely, we have circumstances where people are not supportive, so
clearly, they picked the wrong person.

I could see the same thing happening with parents and children,
except ramp that up tenfold in terms of the concern and, as you
mentioned, the idea about thinking of this as a parent.
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Once again, it gets down to the degree of comprehension and the
degree of support from the team around this group of people to
work through this process together, recognizing that the decision is
not going to be made just like that. The decision is going to be a
process rather than just this immediate...and we're done.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Dr. Morrison, maybe I'll try to word
this in a way that respects your expertise in clinical ethics. To what
extent should the quality of end-of-life care be considered as a fac-
tor when we're assessing this?

I take Dr. Widger's comments about wanting to make sure that
specialized palliative care is available so that every child who may
potentially find themselves in this situation has at least had the op-
portunity to make that informed choice and to experience the full
range of care options. Does your practice or your expertise in this
field inform anything that you can say on that?

Dr. Kathryn Morrison: Yes, because oftentimes clinical ethi-
cists navigate very challenging situations regarding informed con-
sent to treatment. I think Professor Widger's really important com-
ment around the accessibility of palliative care is important: to in-
form mature minors around all of their options when it comes to
end-of-life care. In some ways, it's very challenging to say that an
informed decision has been made without full knowledge of and ac-
cessibility to all available options.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you for that.

That's it for me, Madam Chair.
® (2015)
The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you very much.
I will now turn this over to my joint chair for questions from sen-
ators.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Senator
Martin.
[Translation]

Senator Mégie, you have three minutes.
Hon. Marie-Francoise Mégie: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

My question is for Mrs. Widger.

As a nurse, you work in the field with children with cancer or
other terminal illnesses. How important do you think it is to pro-
mote the involvement of young people in discussions and decisions
on this very important issue facing them? Is this something that
should be discussed with children who are already sick or with
healthy children?

Is there any research on that? If so, what were the findings?
[English]

Prof. Kimberley Widger: Yes. In terms of my experience as a
nurse, | have not been at the bedside for quite a while, but I certain-
ly have been involved with children and young adults—older
teenagers, I guess—who are making decisions that impact their
lives, very much so, and there's a range. No two 16-year-olds are
the same.

I've cared for, at the same time, two 16-year-old girls. One made
all the decisions, with her father with her, but he absolutely let her

make all the decisions. I think she could have very much made this
kind of decision. Another 16-year-old didn't want to be a part of
any of the meetings and really didn't want to talk at all or make any
decisions.

They're completely different children. They bring different expe-
riences to the situation. Also, there's a big difference in terms of be-
ing diagnosed with something when they were three years old, are
now 17 and have lived with and been involved in decision-making
all the way through, versus someone who was diagnosed three
months ago. It's hard. I can remember many children who could
have made this decision, in my assessment, and many of the same
age who could not have made this kind of decision.

[Translation]

Hon. Marie-Francoise Mégie: Do you think that the best way to
have a debate on this would be to use research bases from countries
that have already had this experience? There aren't many, but are
you aware of their findings?

[English]

Prof. Kimberley Widger: No, there are not very many other ju-
risdictions, and in those that do have it in place, the numbers are
very small. To be honest, I haven't looked up the numbers since we
did the report on mature minors as part of the working group, so I
don't know if their numbers have gotten bigger over the last few
years. However, the numbers were small.

A study was done asking Canadian pediatricians how many
times in their career they've been asked about it. It wasn't even
called medical assistance in dying at the time. They talked about
how over their careers there was a total of maybe 20 mature minors
who had asked about MAID explicitly over the course of many pe-
diatricians' entire careers.

I think—I hope—the number would be very small, but I think the
number of adults who have taken advantage of MAID is much
higher than what we thought it might be when Canada started down
this path, so who can say?

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you.

We'll now go to Senator Kutcher for three minutes.

Hon. Stanley Kutcher: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
I have three questions. They are all for Dr. Gubitz.

In a slightly different area, I think you can help us in your role as
chair of the MAID curriculum development process. I'll just ask the
three questions and then ask you to respond.

The first question is this: Will this curriculum that the group is
working on be of a similar standard to other curricula currently
used in the training of physicians, family physicians or specialists
for the royal college?
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Second, will this curriculum provide an opportunity to standard-
ize MAID assessment and delivery across Canada—so, to improve
that standardization?

Third, will this curriculum assist professional and regulatory
bodies to set standards of care for MAID similar to what we cur-
rently have in all other aspects of medicine in Canada?

® (2020)

Dr. Gordon Gubitz: The first question has to do with the quality
of the educational curriculum that we're developing. The curricu-
lum will be accredited by all of the royal colleges—the Royal Col-
lege of Physicians, the College of Family Physicians of Canada,
and the Canadian Nurses Association—as they are actually partner-
ing with us on the development of this. They have eyes on the
project through all of its stages of development, but it will go
through an accreditation process.

With respect to the second question about creating an educational
standard across the country that's comparable to what one might see
elsewhere, the reason this curriculum was developed is that there is
no formal training for MAID in any form across the country. It ar-
rived as a legislative change. Then it was “see one, do one, teach
one”. Eventually, through the Senate request for CAMAP to devel-
op the program, we now are developing a basic training program
for clinicians who are interested in developing their skills around
MAID assessment, MAID provision through a series of a more ba-
sic assessments through to more complex assessments, capacity and
vulnerability, etc.

I think that, with respect to the third question, all of the provinces
and territories presently have standards that we follow. In Nova
Scotia, our college of physicians and surgeons has a standard that I
must adhere to. We work with our college to ensure that they will
have access to this information, and we would work hand in hand
with them to improve the legislative standard as it would be re-
quired. I think there are only upsides to having a national standard-
ized education process for MAID.

To anticipate the question that might come.... We don't have a
standard at the present time for pediatrics or for mature minors only
because it's not part of the law yet. I imagine that, as time goes by,
that might be something that happens if this becomes part of the
federal legislation.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Senator
Kutcher.

Senator Dalphond.
[Translation]
Hon. Pierre Dalphond: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
[English)
I'm going to follow up on.... My question was the one that Mr.

Thériault tried to get an answer on. I will repeat it so that we will
answer his question and mine.

I understand from the testimony of Dr. Morrison that she thinks
there are two things that are important. We should look at maturity
instead of age because this is not necessarily equivalent. The sec-

ond thing is that, if access is provided to MAID for mature minors,
it should be limited only to track one.

Would you, Dr. Gubitz and Professor Widger, agree with that?
Dr. Gordon Gubitz: I'll go first.

I totally agree. I think that when MAID came about back in
2016, only track one existed. We learned over a period of time what
that looked like. Through that and through gauging the Canadian
response to this, we were eventually able to lead to track two and to
Audrey's amendment and all of those sorts of things—the low-
hanging fruit first, and then working and getting a sense of what
makes sense and what our experience teaches us. I think to go im-
mediately to track one and track two for mature minors might be
more than the Canadian public is willing to handle. I think we need
to approach this thoughtfully, cautiously, and in a stepped approach.

That's my opinion.
Prof. Kimberley Widger: Yes, | would agree with the same.
[Translation]

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Sena-
tor Dalphond.

[English]
We'll now go to Senator Martin for three minutes.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you.
My question is for Professor Widger.

As you are aware, the CCA working group concluded that there
are many gaps in knowledge that make it “difficult to arrive at
definitive answers”, and only three countries, as you mentioned, al-
low MAID for minors. There are so few cases that there's very lim-
ited data.

Given this lack of data, do you think it's prudent to move ahead
with MAID for mature minors in Canada, or would Canadians be
better served if this committee recommended that government un-
dertake further expert research on the issue?

Prof. Kimberley Widger: That's a very big question.

I think the youth voice is still missing from the work that's been
done to date. I know that Dr. Franco Carnevale testified before this
committee in June, I believe, and that's some work that he is doing.
I think it really is important work.

It's important to not just rush into things, as you say. A more
stepped approach may be better and serve us better in the long run.
On the other hand, if [ were 17 years and 250 days old, forcing me
to wait just seems crazy if I'm capable of being able to make a deci-
sion, so I don't have a good answer to that question.

® (2025)

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): It was a big question,
so thank you for responding as you did.



November 1, 2022

AMAD-24 19

Beyond specialized pediatric palliative care, which I think is so
important, are there other services and supports that are needed for
certain groups such as indigenous, racialized or disabled youth?

Prof. Kimberley Widger: Yes, and I think those are the groups
who we really still have not heard from, the indigenous population
in particular in terms of how this fits with their views and ways of
being in the world. We have not looked at that really at all.

Yes, it's absolutely a critical component, and I think, yes, mature
minors with disabilities are a different population from those with a
terminal illness. They're the track one group whose death is fore-
seeable in the very near future. For most of those with disabilities,
it would not be something that's in the near future, so maybe that's a
different track.

Yes, more research is needed in those areas for sure.
The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): Thank you very much.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau): Thank you, Senator
Martin.

With that, I'll return it to you.

The Joint Chair (Hon. Yonah Martin): I'd like to say thank
you to all of the witnesses. It's a difficult topic, and your expertise,
your recommendations and your guidance are very important to us.

Thank you very much on behalf of our committee.

With that, colleagues, we conclude. Thank you.
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